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Plate 1 View of the southwestern portion of the prolect areq looking northeast
showing graded lawn.
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Plate 2 View of the northwestemn porfion of the project area icoking east
showing forest with parking lot behing.
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The purpose of this archaeological and historical sensitivity study is to document tha
potential prehistorlc and historle sensitivity of the proposed Eger Harbor House
project through the review of exising archival, cartographlc and published
references and then fo make recommendations regarding possible further testing.
In order to provide a context for evaluating any Identifled resources within the parcel
itself, this survey will provide a synthesis of published and unpublished prehistoric and
historle sources In the imrmediate vicinity surrounding the project areq. Materials on
fie at Greenhouse Consuitants, complled for other projects conducted in the
Borough of Richmond were used In preparing this report. Acknowledgments are

extended to the documentary research completed by Anna V., Farkas for previous
projects.

INTRODUCTION

The project areq Is located In south-central Staten island, New York, In the vicinity of
the village of Richmond. The propery consists of a regularty shaped parcel
located along the east side of Meisner Avenue. It Is within Tax Block 2250 and
consists of Lot 3. See Figure 1 fora map ltustrating the location of the project areq.

This study is organized in the following manner: first, a section describes the
geography and physlcal setting of the prolect areq; second, o section follows on
the prehistoric sensltivity of the areq; third, a review of the historic sensitivity of the
areq; and fourth, the concluslons and recommendations.
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Figure 1 Locafion of the Eger Harbor House project area shown on portions of
the U.5.G.S. 7.5 minute sefies Arthur Kill and The Narrows, New York
Quadrangle, 1947, photorevised 1981,

AY 24 195 14:49 -

718 667 6350 FAGE. 28



I BN S M B BN Al R TN BN BN BN B BE B BN BN BN e

GEOGRAPHY AND PHYSICAL SETTING

The project area Is located in the Aflantic Coastal Lowland Physiographic Province of
New York State. There is only one other location in the state, Long Island, where this
province occurs (Van Diver 1985:34). Geographically, Staten lsland is part of New
Jersey from which it Is separated by the Kill Van Kull and the Staten Island Sound
(Skdnner 1909).

The geomorphology of Staten Island consists of landforms and deposits of glacial
ofgln. The sediments were deposited by the Wisconsin glaclation 55,000-10,000
years ago and generally conslst of ground moralne, teminal moraine and outwash
sediments (Jacobsen 1980:5). The shorellne area in this porlion of Staten Isiand Is
comprised of sandy embankments of beach and adjacent fo and at times
ovellying fthe area’s geologlcally earfier giacial deposlts of fthe Cretaceous
formations of sand and clay (Welngartner 1967:41), Local giacial deposits may be
overlald by fil as well as beach, marsh, dune, swamp, and estuarine depostts
(Jacobsen 1980:5),

During Mayl 1998 the Princlpal Investigator visited the Eger Harbor House project
area. During this visit, a pedestian survey was used fo inspect the prolect areq,
Plates 1 and 2 illuskate the project area. There is evidence of grading in the
southwestern part of the property. See Plate 1. To the north the terain is sloping and
the vegetaotion Is trees and brush. See Plate 2. Much of the east side of the property
conslsts of a paved driveway and parking lot, The property contalns no structures.

RY B84 *99 14:41
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PREHISTORIC SENSITIVITY

As part of the project evaluation process, the sensifivity study has surveyed
published and unpublished sources in the Archives and Library of the Staten lsland
Institute of Arts and Sciences (hereafter SilAS). the library of the New York City
Landmarks Preservation Commission, the files of the New York State Museum Division
of Historical and Anthropological Services, and the New York State Historc
Preservation Office (NYSHPO). Mosf documented prehistoric archaeological work
undertaken by both professional and avocational archaeologlsts has historically
concentrated on the southwestem porfion of Staten Island (Baugher 1985, personal
communlcation).

Table 1 presents the resutts of our search for prehistoric sites in the vielnify of the Eger
Harbor House project areq. Included in the table are nine sites located two rnlles or
less from the project area. The locations of these sites are presented on Figure 2
with lefter code identifiers which corespond to those In Table 1.

Of the nine known occumences of prehistoric occupdation within two miles of the
project areq, only one was excavated recently under controlled conditions. These
other daota represent the work of professional archaeologists early in this century.
Two professional archaeologlsts are Included: Alanson Skinner and Athur C. Parker.
Skinner characterized the locations chosen by prehistoric populations as follows:

Throughout Staten Island. with very few exceptions, aborginal sites are
confined to the sandy spots (1912:90).

The nearest site to the Eger Harbor House project ared is the Vanderbilt Mausoleum.,
This site Is recorded by Boesch as NA 98 in his recent survey of prehistoric sites on
Stafen Island. Flles at the 5.LLA.S, indicate that prehistoric adifacts wete recovered
during construction of the Mausoleum, See A4 In Table 1 and Figure 2. The
Mausoleum site is located approximately 0.7 miles northeast of the project area.

The next nearest site is the Richmond Hill site numbered N.A.22 by Boesch and 30-
RIC-5-AJA by avocational archaeologist Albert J. Anderson. This site Is assigned to
the Early Archalc period, |t is located approximately 0.8 miles southwest of the
project area. See BinTable 1 and Figure 2.

The third nearest site to the project area is N.Y.5.M. site 8499. It is described only as
a camp so no estimates of date range or cuttural offiiation can be made. It Is

3
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located approximately 0.9 miles west of the prolect area. See € in Table ] and
Figure 2,

The fourth nearest prehistoric site to the project areq, designated £in Table 1 and
Figure 2 Is the Richmond site reported by former New York State Archaecloglst Arthur
C. Parker. This site, which appears on Parker's map of Richmond County and In his
text, Is described as Site Number 26, The site was previously reported by Skinner as
site #22. ItIs jocated approximately 1.6 miles west of the project araaq.

The fifth nearest site to the praject areq, designated £1n Table 1 and Figure 2, Is an
unnamed site reported by Parker.  This site, which appears on Parkers map of
Richmond County but not in his text, is described only as a campsite with traces of
occupation, It Is located approximately 1.7 milles southeast of the project areq.
Since Parker provides no descripfion of the arfifacts recoversd. no estimate of date
fange can be offered (Parker 1922:Plate 21 1).

Fin Table 1 and Figure 2 represent the Todt Hill site. This site conslists of o camp and
lithlc scatter. It is located approximately 1.8 miles northeast of the project areq,
Boesch assigns it as number NA 30,

The seventh nearest site fo the project areq, designated &in Tabie 1 ang Figure 2, is
the New Springvile site. = This camp with burials and a shell heap is located
approximately 1.9 miles northwest of the project area. This sita was Infaily reported
by Skinner as Stte 10. Parker repeats Skinners description. The cuttural range
includes and Woodland and Contact periods,

Boesch's Site N.A. 89 is represented by # In Table 1 and Figure 2. This site Is a
Woodiand pericd shell midden now within the Oakwood Beach Water Poliution
Control Plant. Itis located approximately 1.9 miles south of the project areq,

/in Table 1 and Figure 2 represents two small sites listed in the files of the Staten
Island Institute of Ads and Sciences as STD-GK and STD-GF, representing Great Kills

- and Glffords, Lthics were found In these two locotions which e cpproxdmately 2.0

milles southeast of the project area,

In terns Of prehlistorle sensitivity, the project impaet area was evaluated from two
points of view:

1. the proximity of known prehistoric sites in o near the project area:
and
2, the presence of fresh water drainage courses In general, and
paricularly the Identification of rver or stream  confluence
4

IP‘IF-!Y 84 339 14:42 718 667 6958 FRGE .11



lMi‘-\Y B4 '39 14:43

situations where two or more drainages come together,

providing access to both the water and food supplies of both
systerns.

This survey has documented fhe recorded or published locations of nine sites within
a two mile radius of the Eger Harbor House Center project areq. Although sites have
been idenfifled in the general reglon of the proposed project impact areq, none
are known to exist within the project areq itself. No evidence, positive or negative,
based on previous survey work Is avallable. | would be inappropriate, however, 1o
characterize this reglon as without prehistoric sensitivity,

The 1910 topographlc map shows an unnomed brook just east of the project area,
Game would have been attracted fo the brook. The prolect area Included some

relafively slevated land overlocking the brook and therefore has the potentlal to
hold the remalns of a hunting camp.

71B &67 6958 PAGE. 12
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JTABLE 1
Prehistoric Sites within Two Miles of the Project Area
[Hnme 'WSM# Parkerd INYSQPRHF# Otherit NYCLPL# References Parlad(s} Descaipton
A Vandarb|i NAGS Boesch 1994:119 Prehistore arifocts
Mausaleum fovnd during
Morovian consiuction
Cemetary
B. Richmond Hif } SOHAIC-5-AJA NA22 Boesch 1994:105 Ealy Archaic
c. 8499 L Camp
0. Richmond 4614 ACP-RICH-24 A-0B5-01-0109  |Skinney #22 SXinner 1 P09:14-17 Camp
l Porker 1922:685
E. 4628 ACP-RICH A:Q085-01-0169 NASQ Parker 1922:4.210 Camp
ﬁ Boasch 1994:113 Iraces of
, occupation

F. Todt Hill Sm-10D1 NA3D . |Boesch 1994:107 Camp and Iithic

- scattar
&G. New Syvingfiald  |4400 ACP-RICH-10 Skinper £10 NAZ4 Skinney 1709:10 Woodiand Camnp, Buials, Shell

Parker 1922:482 Contact heap
- Boesch 1994:115 |
H. NARY Boesch 1994:118 Woodland shall midden
0. Giedt Klis STD-GK NABB Boifon 1934:152, 156 Theee thics
SID-GE {Boesch 1994:118 Ona lithic




HISTORIC SENSITIVITY

Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries

Staten lsiand was known as Aquehonga Manacknong by the bands of Lenape who
Inhabited it during the seventeenth century, athough the variant, Eghquaons, is
used in the earliest Dutch document {Grumet 1981 :2). Cther varafions exist, but
these two are found in seventeenth century documents.

In 1626 the island was bought from the natives by the director of the Dutch West

India Company. Michael Pauw was given a patent of patroonship by the Director

and Council of New Netherlands in 1630, but he relinquished it to the Duich West

India Company. The Duich West india Company granted Cormelius Melyn ail of

Staten Island In 1641 (Historical Records Survey 1942:xlv). Ten vears loter, Melyn

granted Hendrick van der Capellan a deed for one-third of the Island fibld.: xv).

Upon the death of Capellan In 1656, Melyn sold his interest to the company thus .
ending the patroon system on Staten Isiand (ibid.: xvi).

The British assumed control of the colony of Nieuw Amsterdam from the Dutch West
Indla Company in 1664. Govemnor Francls Lovelace made the final purchase of
Staten Island from the indlans in 1670. Land surveys were inifiated under Lovelace
and completed under the govemorship of Edmund Andros in 1677 (Historlcal
Records Survey 1942:xvill).

Governor Dongan designated Staten Isiand as Richmond County. In March 1488
Richmond County was partitoned into four towns: Casfletown, Northfield, Southfield
and Westfield (Bayles 1887:95). The project area ties within the oid fown of Northfield
(Ibld.:map facing page 1). ' '

Staten Isiand remalned under British control throughout the eighteenth century untii
the end of the Revolutionary War.  Approximately 29,000 froops under Brifish
command landed on the [sland durng July 1776. Desplte this large number of
men. there is no evidence that any were stationed within or adjacent to the project
areq.

Late elghteenth century cartographic sources show that a fewl famnsteads iined
both sides of the present Rockland Avenue by the onset of the Revolutionary War
(Plan No. 31 du Anglo-Hesscis sans Staten Island). Unfortunately, due to a certain
degree of inaccuracy Inherent In these early maps, It Is not possible to ascerain the
project ared’s exact location on them. The Eger Harbor House project area appears
to be located north of one structure shown on Plon No. 31, Part of Plan No. 31 du
Anglo-Hessals is provided here os Figure 3. The New and Correct Map of the County

7
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of Richmond completed during 1797 shows the project area as vacant. It Is the
eariest map to show the name Northfleld for the town, including the project areq,
This map was not reproduced for this report,

Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries

The United States Coast Survey Charter of New York Harbot, surveyed from 1834-1839
and published in 1845, is the eariest avaiioble nineteenth century cartographic
source, This map shows no structures in the vicinify of the project area. The Eger
Harbor House project area appears to le within a forest. The present Rockland
Avenue Is shown but Meisner Avenue Is not, See Figure 4, :

The next cartographic source presented hers Is the Butier map of 1853. This map
shows that the project area Is labeled J.P. Kellef, Richrmond Seminary. Melsner
Avenue does not exist yet. See Figure 5, The Butler map shows the proposed line of
the railroad, that is not its present Jocation.

The 1852 Bacon and Bames map was also consulted, but is not Included as a figure
In the report since it shows the same situation as Butler,

The 1859 Wallng map was consulted but could not be copled due o its large siza.
It shows the project area as part of a parce! labeled Richmond Hil Hotel JP Kellet],
FProp. One structure is shown to the east of the project area,

The 1874 Beers Afias, presented here as Figure &, is the earliest cartographic source
to show property lines and stucture locations with a fair degree of reiiablity. The
Eger Harbor House project area conslists of part of a 20 acre propefty labeled £st of
JP. Kellstt No structures are shown within the project area, but Kellett's. hause les
just to the east, as do a pond and a stream. Meisner Avenus ls shown. |
Figure 7, taken from the 1887 Beers Atlas, confinues to show the same situation, The
project area is vacant. The property Is part of @ larger parcel labeled /2, kefettas,

The last nineteenth century cartographic source, presented here as Figure 8, is taken
from the 1898 Robinson atlas. No structures are shown within the project area. The
steam is shown, The project area s part of 0 20 acre parcel owned by Martin
Keppler. [t Is labeled Aquofionga. A house, bam and windmlll are shewn fo the
south and east.

The 1907 Robinson Atlas shows q change In ownership. The project area is now
owned by Cail F. Grieshaber, The project area remains vacant. The house, bam

B
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and stream are still shown to the east, The properly is sfill called Aquefionga. See
Figure 9.

Figure 10 is taken from the 1910 Borough of Richmond Topographleal Survey. This
map shows the southwestem part of the project area as a famm field. The house and
born are o the east, the stream is shown glong the eastern boundary. No structures
are shown, Elevations range from 195 feet in the southwest to 120 feet in the

northeast.

Figure 11 presents the 1997 survey of the project area by Rogers Surveying, No
structures exist within the project area. Elevations appear to be roughly the same as

in1910.

In summary, the historic maps and atlases do not show any structures within the
project area. Durlng the elghteenth and early nineteenth century the project area
was forested. The eastern side of the project area is the location of ¢ stream,

The project area was owned by J.F, Kellelt from at least 1853 unfil after 1859, Durng
1833 he operated the Richmond Seminary just to the east of the profect area. By
1859 it became the Richmond Hill Hotel. By 1874 the project area was owned by
the J.P. Kellett estate, Ownership durng 1887 was by the J.F. Ketettas estate, This
appeliation may still refer to J.P. Kellett assuming the name was comupted. The
owner of the project area during 1898 was Martin Keppler. Carl F. Greshaber
owned the property by 1907. During 1917, ownership was by C.H. Aldrich.

Informartion was then sought on the various owners. J.P: Kellett was manager of the
Richmond Seminary for Young Ladies during the late 1840s and early 1850s. The
school opened during April 1848. J.W. Frazer served 'a$ principal and secretary
(Powell 1989:124). Nothing else wos found on Keliett, and nothing on Keteftas or
Keppler, Car F. Grieshaber was an architect woking for the firm of Delano and
Aldrich. They were responsible for some of the bulldings at the Staten Iskand Hospital
{Leng and Davls 1930:805). Giieshaber evidently sold the properly to one of his
employers: C.H, Aldrich,

The narmes of few assistants or assoclates are known for the Delano and Aldrich firmn,
but Carl F, Grieshaber, clong with four other names, are known to have risen to the
rank of assoclate In the firm due to thelr position belng listed on the lefterhead

(Wilson 1997:131).

Delano and Aldrich were in business from 1903 to 1940, when Aldrich died. Chester
Holmes Aldrch was born o a prominent Rhode lsland familly on June 4, 1871 In
Providence. He graduated from Columbla College in 1893 affer studying

9
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architecture, He worked first for the architectural firm of Carére & Hastings from
1893 to 1895 and then 1900 to 1903. Between 1895 and 1900 Aldrich studied at
the Ecole des Bedux-Arts and recelved his dioidme In 1900. He remained «
bachelor, taking active roles in soclal and civic offairs, and receiving an honarary
doctorate from Columbia In 1929. Aldrich became director of the Ameidcan
Academy In Rome and died there In 1940 (Wilson 1997:128),

Delano & Aldrich rapldly grew In reputation. By 1910, "Delanc & Aldich was e
qualty county-house architectural firm in the United States,...* (Wilson 1997:127),
designing homes as far as Santa Barbara. In an article from 7ime (June 2, 1930:28),
ihe homes were described as ‘never spectacular, but noted fér their ‘finesse’, 'nicety
In detalf, ‘discreet erudition' and constituted an ‘architectural aiistocracy (Wilson
1997:127), The fim of Delano & Aldrich was %he best of its fime* and *set the
standard for the period” (ibid.}. The architecture of Delano & Aldrich was

“... @ product of thelr locartion and the time and clreumnstances In which they
wars designed and bullt, as well as of their owners’ deslres. The Long lsland
residences by Delano & Aldrich were designed for a paricular style of life, and
they contributed to the tosterng of that lita, At the same fime, these county
houses had ancther dimension; many criics and architects of the period saw
them as particulary Amerleon and exemplars of the modem® (ibld ],

In fact. one of the major characteristics of the firm's work—~the way lis country
nouses fit Into the landseape and thelr relation to the garden—may ba most
due fo Aldich, reflecting his liftelong passion for and study of ftatian villas and
thelr gardens (bid.:131).

t
|

The clients requiring such finesse and erudition in their hormes were the Astars, Kahns,
bndberghs, Prafts, Rockefellers, Vanderbilts ond Whitneys, Aldich and Delano
received these and other commissions because they had good backgrounds, were
cufivated and had proper education credentials (Wilson 1997:129). They were part
of socletys elite culture. Delano & Aldrich built the studio at Roshyn for Gerfrude
Payne Whifney (ibid.:136-37), with cost as no object, Their iargest private home was
Cheka for Otto Kahn at Cold Spring Habor at 62,000 square feet, with 72 rooms and
25 baths, a degree of bombast quite distinct from the usual Delano & Aldrich
offering (ibid.:138-140}. The Burden estate at Syosset shines as thelr finest, winning
the 1920 Medal of Honor at the Archltectural Lleague Exhiblflon in New York
(lbld.:14Y-142), The Georgion house, Woodsioe, set In an Olmsted Brothers park
inspired Edward, Prince of Wales, when he stayed there In 1924 to wite: "Compared
o the creature cornforts Americans took for gronted, the luxtry 1o which | was
accustorned in Europe seemed almost primifive’ (ibid.:138).

10
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Delano & Aldrch also completed public buidings: the Waiters Art Gallety In
Baltimore, Pan American Airways stations In Miomi, Midway, Wake and Guam
Istands, the Knickerbocker club, the Colony and the Unlon clubs in New York City,
buildings at Yale, Smith, Lawrencevile and 5t. Bernard's. In 1935 the fim listed 243
Individual commissions, 111 of which were county houses. Delano & Aldrich kept
the fim small, around 67 employees in 1930, so they could confrol the projects
personally (Wison -1 997.129). The strength of the firm is noted by Wilson as he
observes that other firms failed during the Depression or had o change completely

to public/commercial work, while Delano & Aldrich continued to 1940, when Aldrich
dled {ibld.:127).

Despite the association of the prolect area with the above list of owners, there is no
evidence that anything was ever built within the project areq.
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CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The above text has documented that the Eger Harbor House project area may
preserve archaeologlical evidence from the prehistoric period. The project area is
within two miles of nine prehistoric sites. Fresh water would have been available
from the steam aclong the eastern side of the parcel. The stream would have
aftracted game, making the higher ground to the west o possible location for a
hunting camp,

The section on historic sensttivify shows that the project area was largely forested until
the mid-nineteenth century. There is no evidence that any structures were built on
the project area. Despite ownership by a number of locally and Intemationally
known persons in the nineteenth and twentieth centurles, it cppears unllkely that any
depaosifts would exist here which relate to thelr ownership.

The southwestem portion of the project area is presently a graded lawn, Gravel
could be seen at the suface in places. Senvice fines run across this hillslde.
Although the topography Is similar fo that in 1910, there Is evidence of distutbance
from the grading and landscaping. This alteration appears to date to the Iatter part
of the twentieth century, during the present ownership by the Eger Health Care
Center. It lies to the north of their nursing home constructed durng 1969 (REDI-
Sanborn 1989:Pl, 426). The northwestem portion Is presently wooded and appears fo
be In a condition very ke that shown in 1910. Much of the project areda In the
eastern porfion Is a paved diveway and parking lot, and is therefore already
disturbed. The northeastern portion is @ wetland and will not be impacted.

We reeommend that archaeoclogical testing be conducted on the forested portion
excepling where the slope Is twelve percent or greater. The purpose of the testing

will be to search for evidence of prehistoric Use of this land. We recommend a grid
pattemn of shovel tests at 80 foot Intervals,
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Plate 1 View of the southwestarn portion of the project area looking northeast

showing graded lawn.,

Plate 2 View of the northwesiern porlion of the project area looking east
showing forest with parking lot behind,
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